Lord William Armstrong- Hero or Villain?
A Local Study of a local Lad

One of the main reasons for investigating the life and legacy of William Armstrong is the fact that he was born on November 26th  1810 at No.9 Pleasant Row, Shieldfield, Newcastle; approximately one hundred metres from our school gates. As part of our ‘War, Peace and Celebration’ summer topic, exploring the life of one of the World’s biggest arms dealers and a local philanthropist seemed hugely appropriate and meant we could actually touch the history we were studying. The question on everyone’s lips however, is… how much could Armstrong be regarded as a Hero or Villain of his times?
William was the son of a prosperous corn merchant who was had found success in Newcastle. As well as his business, William senior, was intensely interested in mathematics and the pursuit of knowledge. In addition, he actually served as Mayor of Newcastle in 1850. William junior had a sister called Anne. During his childhood, he suffered from ill health (chest problems) and it was during these periods of sickness that he began making toy machines from simple materials. Also he paid visits to the workshop of a joiner where he learned about the various tools and the trade. Perhaps, this interest was the spark which would lead him to important achievements in the world of mechanics and engineering?

William’s father wanted his son to become a lawyer and during his years as a young man he actually became a partner in Donkin’s Newcastle Law firm. Despite his father’s wishes, William pursued his passion and in 1845, he suggested a plan to put into practice his ideas about a hydraulic crane. Armstrong soon proved that his crane (powered by using the pressure from water pipes) could unload ships faster and more cheaply than existing ones. Three more cranes were installed on the Quayside and soon after, Armstrong and a new team of business partners set up a factory two miles west of the city centre, in Elswick.

The Elswick Works went on to enjoy many years of success and expansion, becoming Newcastle’s largest employer. By 1863, 3,800 people worked at this great industrial base on the Tyne. The impact on the local area, providing jobs and new homes for people is clear proof that Armstrong was a local hero. 

However, it was also Sir William Armstrong who was responsible for creating a variety of  field and naval guns during the 1850’s and 1860’s.  Armstrong was primarily a problem-solver and when he heard about the problems encountered by British troops in the Crimean War of 1854-56 moving their guns to hill-top positions, he set to work designing a lighter and therefore more mobile field gun. In 1859, Armstrong created a larger gun, superior to all its rivals and gave the patents for the gun to the British government; he received a knighthood as his reward. After some time, Armstrong’s company, still based at Elswick  provided fitted guns for warships that were built along the river in Walker at Mitchell’s yard.  It was the removal of the 18th century bridge across the Tyne and the construction of the subsequent Swing bridge  that provided a gateway to the sea for Armstrong’s new company.

In 1884 Charles Mitchell and Sir William decided to open a shipyard at Elswick and concentrate on warship construction.  The following years saw orders for warships coming from :Austria-Hungary, Japan, China, Argentina, Chile, Brazil, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Italy and Turkey. Our man on Tyneside was now one of the world’s biggest arms dealers and his products were causing death and destruction across the globe. By 1895, the Elswick works was employing 11,000 people, mainly men and boys. However, by this time, Sir William was in his eighties and spent most of his time at his ‘palace’ in the Northumberland countryside, called Cragside. This castle like creation was also the first place in the world to be lit by hydro-electricity .

Indeed, Armstrong had a sincere love for nature, nick-named ‘The Kingfisher’ he was a keen fisherman. In fact, Sir William and his wife Margaret, Lady Armstrong had lived in the Dene since their marriage in 1835. Over the years, they acquired more and more land in the Dene until in 1883 gave more than 80 acres of Jesmond Dene to the people of Newcastle in perpetuity. The Dene was a gift to the people of the city for their recreation and pleasure. The childless, but wealthy couple, completed many more works of charity. In 1859, the inventor provided funds to build a new school for deaf children in Newcastle, now called Northern Counties school.  The baron of Cragside also gave considerable sums to the old Royal Infirmary in Newcastle as well as £3000 towards a fund set up to build a new hospital, which became the Royal Victoria Infirmary, opened in 1906. Other good causes, deemed worthy by the Armstrong estate included Newcastle’s Natural History Museum, The Hancock, which completed between 1878-82 received a total of £11,500 for its construction. The city of Newcastle has arguably never known such a benefactor and hero as Armstrong.

Lord Armstrong died at Cragside at 1:10am on December 27th 1900. He was aged 90. He was reported to have passed away peacefully. The companies he had set up continued to thrive and the Elswick Yard had become a world-renowned builder of warships. In addition, at Elswick, guns were produced ranging in size from great 110-to breech-loaders to small machine guns. The company made a huge contribution to Britain’s efforts during the First World Wart when it manufactured 13,000 guns, over 14 million shells and around 100 tanks. In 1927-28, many of the company’s business interests merged to form Vickers-Armstrongs Ltd.

Lord Armstrong was buried in Rothbury Churchyard beside his wife Margaret who had died in 1893.

Now, whether you believe Armstrong was a heroic man or someone whose good deeds were driven by a guilty conscience, it is difficult to deny his impact as an inventor, engineer and philanthropist, especially upon the city of Newcastle Upon Tyne. He now lies in a quiet corner of Rothbury, close to the meandering River Coquet which was so dear to his heart. 







